
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

 
Health Scrutiny 
Panel 
12 December 2022 

 
Time 
 

1.30 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny 

Venue 
 

Council Chamber- Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH 

Membership 
 
Chair Cllr Susan Roberts MBE (Lab) 
Vice-chair Cllr Paul Singh (Con) 
 
Labour Conservative  

Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal 
Cllr Milkinderpal Jaspal 
Cllr Rashpal Kaur 
Cllr Asha Mattu 
Cllr Lynne Moran 
Cllr Sandra Samuels OBE 
 
 
Co-opted Member 
Stacey Lewis (Healthwatch Wolverhampton) 
 

Cllr Sohail Khan 
 

 

Quorum for this meeting is three voting members. 
 
Information for the Public 
 
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Scrutiny Team: 

Contact Martin Stevens DL 
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 550947 or martin.stevens@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Address Scrutiny Office, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square, 

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 
 
Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/  
Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  
Tel 01902 555046 
 
Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 
 

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 2 of 3 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Agenda 
 
Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 
Item No. Title 
  
MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS 
  
1 Apologies  
 [To receive any apologies for absence].   

  
2 Declarations of Interest  
 [To receive any declarations of interest].   

  
3 Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 5 - 12) 
 [To approve the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record.] 

  
  

DISCUSSION ITEMS 
  
4 Performance, Budget Monitoring and MTFS (Pages 13 - 38) 
 [To receive a presentation on Performance, Budget Monitoring and Medium Term 

Financial Strategy].   
  
  

5 Integrated Care System Strategy and Priorities - Question and Answer Session 
(Pages 39 - 102) 

 [A Question and Answer Session on the Integrated Care System Strategy and 
Priorities including One Wolverhampton].   
  
[Government guidance to Heath Scrutiny Panels is attached, along with four articles 
taken from The King’s Fund website.  The King’s Fund is an independent charitable 
organisation working to improve health and care in England].   
  
The Four King’s Fund Articles are:- 
  

1)    Integrated Care Systems explained: Making sense of systems, place and 
neighbourhoods. 

  
2)    The first days of Statutory Care Systems: Born into a Storm 
  
3)    Placed Based Partnerships Explained 
  
4)    Social Care Providers and Integrated Care Systems: Opportunities and 

Challenges 
  
  

 
  



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 3 of 3 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

6 Date of Next Meeting and Draft Agenda Items  
 [The date of the next scheduled Health Scrutiny Panel is 19 January 2023 at 1:30pm-. 

  
The draft agenda items are :- 
  

       Primary Care (Results of latest GP Telephone Survey from Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton) 
  

       One Wolverhampton Priorities Update 
  

       The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust Transport Service 
  

       Urology Services Monitoring Report 
  

       Supporting Communities through Ward Plans 
  



This page is intentionally left blank



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

 

Health Scrutiny Panel 
Minutes - 22 September 2022 

 
Attendance 

 
Members of the Health Scrutiny Panel 
 
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal 
Cllr Milkinderpal Jaspal 
Cllr Rashpal Kaur 
Cllr Sohail Khan 
Stacey Lewis (Healthwatch Co-opted Member) 
Cllr Asha Mattu 
Cllr Lynne Moran 
Cllr Susan Roberts MBE (Chair) 
Cllr Paul Singh (Vice-Chair) 
 
In Attendance 
Members from Staffordshire County Council Health and Care Overview Scrutiny Committee 
including the Chair of the Committee.   
 

 
Witnesses  
Professor David Loughton CBE – The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust (Via MS Teams) 
Brian McKaig (Medical Director – The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust) (Via MS Teams) 

 

 
Employees  
Martin Stevens DL (Senior Governance Manager) 
John Denley (Director of Public Health) 
Becky Wilkinson (Director of Adult Services) (Via MS Teams) 
Dr Ainee Khan (Consultant in Public Health) 
Dr Bal Kaur (Consultant in Public Health) 
Riva Eardley (Principle Public Health Specialist) 
Matthew Leak (Principle Public Health Specialist) 
Sophie Pagett (Principle Public Health Specialist) 
Madeleine Freewood (Partnership and Governance Lead – Public Health) 
Julia Cleary (Scrutiny and Systems Manager) 
Kimberly Dawson (Scrutiny Officer) 

 

 
 
Part 1 – items open to the press and public 

 

Item No. Title 
 

1 Apologies 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Sandra Samuels.   
  
There were no substitutions.   
  
The Cabinet Member for Public Health and Wellbeing sent her apologies to the 
Panel.   

Page 5

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

 
2 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.   
 

3 Minutes of previous meeting 
The minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2022 were confirmed as a correct 
record.   
 

4 The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust Quality Accounts 2021-2022 
The Medical Director, from the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust, gave a 
presentation on, The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust Quality Accounts.  A copy of 
the presentation slides are attached to the signed minutes. He identified the key 
points as follows: - 
  

       The objectives for 2022/23 had been set based on the priorities of the Trust, 
the extension of the Trust Organisational Strategy and objectives until August 
2022 and considering the impact of Covid-19 for the past two years. 

  
       The development of a new joint strategy between, The Royal Wolverhampton 

NHS Trust and Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust.  Subsequently by Autumn 
2022.  
  

       The Quality Accounts did not contain any information about the CQC National 
inpatient Survey results for 2021.  The official CQC results were not due until 
October 2022. 
  

       The Quality Accounts would be presented to the formal Annual General 
meeting of the Trust on the 28 September 2022.   

  
The Chair asked about the compliance rate for mandatory training on the Mental 
Health Act.  Compliance was only at 68.6% in March 2022.  She asked for an 
updated figure.  The Medical Director responded that the figure now sat at over 
90%.  It was a local offer rather than national mandatory training. 
  
The Chair asked about the Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) 
training which had not been delivered due to Covid.  The report had stated that this 
intended to be reviewed and delivered within financial year.  She asked if this training 
was on track to be delivered.  The Medical Director responded that the training was 
back on track and was being delivered as it was pre-Covid.   
  
The Chair posed a question regarding the development of a dashboard for 
deteriorating patients and sepsis.  She asked for a progress update and the benefits 
of the dashboard.  The Medical Director responded that the dashboard was 
developed from the electronic system that managed patient observations.  It was a 
live dashboard used by clinical teams 24 hours a day.  
  
The Vice-Chair commented that quality of care was very important.  Patient views on 
the care received were important, he would have liked to have seen more on their 
views in the Quality Accounts.  He also asked about the inequalities the Trust had 
identified and what were they looking to improve moving forwards.  The statement 
referred to a drive to improve continuity of care in BAME women during their 
pregnancy, he asked what improvements were being made.  He referred to the 

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Cancer Improvement Board, which had been delayed.  The report had stated it was 
due to commence in May, he asked if this had occurred.  He requested the latest 
position on the 62-day Cancer Performance target.  Finally, he requested clarification 
on the statement in the Quality Accounts that said the Trust would expand their 
apprenticeship offer to the diverse population. 
  
The Medical Director responded that patient involvement had been challenging.  
Infection prevention measures during Covid had sometimes meant patient 
engagement was more difficult.  They did want to improve family and friends’ 
response scores, as they were average when benchmarked.  They were also looking 
at patient involvement with regard to developing pathways and groups.  The 
inequalities work with maternity services was identifying high risk mothers and babies 
at an early stage.   They were carrying out preventative work such as diabetes 
management, cessation of smoking and having right access to health services and 
support.  Other inequalities identified included prostate cancer in Black Caribbean 
men and how the Trust engaged with them.  There were also inequalities regarding 
waiting lists for hip and knee replacements.  There were work streams ongoing on 
this area to ensure equity of access to services.    
  
The Medical Director stated that the inaugural meeting of the Cancer Improvement 
Group had taken place at the end of May.  It was looking to develop and streamline 
pathways to improve performance and quality.  It was also linked to workstreams in 
the ICS (Integrated Care System).  The next meeting was in the following week.  An 
action plan was being developed.  There were significant challenges around the 62-
day cancer pathways.   
  
The Medical Director commented that the Trust had a strong Mentorship scheme in 
the Trust.  They recognised the importance of investing in staff so they could reach 
their potential.   
  
The Chief Executive of the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust commented that there 
were not extensive vacancies for consultants, doctors at the Trust or GPs in the 
Primary Network they controlled.  He had not used any agency nurses in 
Wolverhampton since 2005.  They were also one of the best in the country for 
international recruitment.  Nationally it was true that the biggest problem the NHS 
faced was workforce, but locally speaking they had done well to maintain staff 
figures.  Waiting lists were at the highest level he had seen since the late 1980s and 
it would take considerable time to get them back on track.  With regard to cancer 
services, locally they were still struggling with the effects of Covid because some 
people had not consulted their GP when they had early symptoms of cancer.  They 
were seeing high levels of cancer and people presenting at a later stage in their 
illness.   
  
The Chief Executive of the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust commented that he did 
have some concerns regarding the high level of international recruitment.  This was 
because many of those staff came to work in England because of the pay.  Due to 
inflation the amount they assumed they could send home was now less.  He was 
doing everything he could to help them stay.  The cost-of-living crisis was having a 
psychological impact on the 17,000 staff that worked for the Trust.  They were 
looking at measures to try and ease the cost-of-living crisis.  A hot meal could be 
provided to staff for £1.50 when at work.    
  

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

The Chief Executive of the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust remarked that they 
were expanding the site at Cannock to include more elective surgery operating 
theatres.  There were some unique problems with robotic surgery.  The waiting list 
for robotic surgery with a robot was high.  It was his view that the NHS had not rolled 
out robotic surgery fast enough.  He was considering adding a third robot at Cannock 
to complement the two at New Cross.   More staff would be required for the extra 
operating theatres at Cannock.  The Trust were providing some mutual aid to 
Birmingham when they did have spare capacity to help with waiting lists.  
Birmingham had some of the biggest waiting lists in the country.   
  
A Member from Staffordshire County Council’s Health and Care Overview Scrutiny 
Committee commended the work the Trust had undertaken with the Local 
Universities.  She also praised the volunteering work the Trust had encouraged 
especially with young people who could feel inspired to have a career later in life in 
health and care.  She asked about how they balanced the overseas workforce with 
other staff.   In addition, how the Trust was able to attract staff to work for them.  It 
was important to ensure opportunities were made known to people and particular 
those in the local area.   
  
The Chief Executive of the Trust responded that there were two groups of overseas 
staff.  They knew from the outset some overseas staff were here for training in a 
partnership arrangement and would then return to their home country, the other 
group had plans to stay in the country long-term.  People came to Wolverhampton 
because there were excellent training and education opportunities.  There were 150 
nurses on the Fellowship Programme.  The Trust had been in a stable financial 
position in the last 14 years and so was able to invest in opportunities for staff.  They 
had a good record in staff retention.  They did everything they could to make their 
overseas staff welcome, this included helping them with accommodation and bank 
accounts.   
  
The Medical Director added that they were very active in going to volunteer groups 
like the Scouts as part of their recruitment drive.  Covid had led to a younger profile 
of volunteers working with the Trust.   
  
The Chair of South Staffordshire’s Health Scrutiny commended the Chief Executive 
of the Trust for investing in Cannock Hospital.  She asked for information on how 
Doctors became Consultants.  The Medical Director explained the process in detail, 
which included the CESR (Certificate of Eligibility for Specialist Registration) route. 
  
The Chair of Staffordshire County Council’s Health and Care Overview Scrutiny 
Committee thanked the Chair for inviting the Committee Members to take part in the 
discussion via MS Teams.  He emphasised that Wolverhampton Trust was a key 
service provider to Staffordshire residents.  He also paid tribute to the Chief 
Executive of the Trust and the staff for the Trust over the last two years and during 
the course of the Covid pandemic.  He referred to the figures in the report which 
detailed the number of incidents which related to serious harm or death.  The figures 
in the report showed there had been more than a doubling of the numbers year on 
year.  He asked what processes were followed when there was an incident to ensure 
lessons were learnt.  He also referred to the number of re-admissions for people over 
16, which was at the highest level for many years.  In addition, the total number of 
admissions was very high.  He asked for some more information on these figures.   
  

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

The Medical Director responded that they did recognise the figures for serious harm 
or death incidents.  They had a formal process that was followed from moderate to 
serious harm and death.  He described the process in detail.  Encouraging there 
were no similar themes in serious harm or death incidents at the Trust.  With 
reference to re-admissions for people over 16, a lot of them were related to mental 
health.  They were trying to manage them more effectively in the community.  They 
were also looking at using virtual wards more over the next two years.  The Chief 
Executive of the Trust referred to problems with delayed transfer of care.  Wages in 
domiciliary care could not compete with companies such as Amazon.  He was also 
alarmed by the increase in the number of elderly patients with mental health 
problems who were being admitted.  It would sometimes look like a re-admission for 
their original condition but was often due to a mental health problem.   
  
The Director of Adult Services stated that they continued to work hard on moving 
their social care residents out of New Cross Hospital.  They had also invested in 
extra staff for winter.  They had increased their PST support and capacity.   
  
A Staffordshire County Council Health and Care Overview Scrutiny Committee 
Member referred to the eye clinic in Wolverhampton, which delivered an excellent 
service.  She asked if there were any plans to move any of the basic services to 
Stoke or Stafford.  The Chief Executive of the Trust responded that she would have 
to ask UHNM (University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust) as he no longer 
managed services in Stafford.  
  
The Vice-Chair asked for the benefits and drawbacks of virtual wards.  The Medical 
Director responded that they could prevent an admission to hospital and be used to 
monitor people being discharged from hospital.  There was a virtual ward team, 
which could digitally monitor them via a command centre, enabling remote access to 
the patients medical statistics.  The feedback from patients had been exceptional.  
He did not see any drawbacks but there was buy-in needed from the population to let 
them know it was safe.  The Chief Executive of the Trust suggested the Panel could 
visit the Command Centre at the Science Park at Wolverhampton University.    
  
The Chair congratulated the Trust on their SHMI (Summary Hospital Level Mortality 
Indicator) being at expected levels.   
  
The Chair asked how the new Integrated Care Board (ICB) and One Wolverhampton 
were progressing as part of the new Health System.  The Medical Director 
responded that One Wolverhampton, the place Level Group was progressing very 
rapidly.  The governance system was now virtually agreed.   There were a number of 
strategic working groups which were related to national initiatives or related to the 
local population.  There was good collaboration between health partners in One 
Wolverhampton.  The main interaction with the ICB had been through the Black 
Country Provider Collaborative.  They were looking at how to develop effective work 
streams and patterns of working.  There was a lot of focus on cancer pathways and 
discussions on other themes such as digital integration.  It was a developing system.   
  
The Chair asked about the benefits and drawbacks of a shared Chief Executive and 
Chairman with Walsall.  He responded that the benefits were high particularly on 
back office work and areas such as catering.  He believed it to be a positive move for 
both Walsall and Wolverhampton.   
  

Page 9



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

The Chair thanked the Members of Staffordshire County Council Health and Care 
Overview Scrutiny Committee for contributing to the meeting.   
  
 

5 Public Health Annual Report 2021-2022 
The Public Health Partnership and Governance lead gave a presentation 
summarising the main points of the Public Health Annual report, a copy of the 
presentation is attached to the signed minutes. 
  
The Chair referred to the high amount of indicators marked in the report as red.  
There were indicators marked as red across the City from Tettenhall to Graisley.  
The Vice-Chair agreed with how the Public Health Partnership Lead had described 
the current situation as stark and challenging.  On page 106 of the agenda pack / 
page 8 of the Annual Report document itself, every indicator with the exception of 
one was marked as red (worse than the national average).   He asked if there was 
anything the seven neighbouring authorities were carrying out, which the Council 
were not, which could be copied to try and improve the indicators marked as red.  He 
was particularly concerned about coronary heart disease and obesity.  Obesity 
seemed to have got worse over the last few years, rather than better.   
  
The Director of Public Health responded that he didn’t tend to look at other 
neighbouring areas to look at what they did well.  There was a real challenge in 
Wolverhampton due to intergenerational reinforcement.  He believed there was a 
way of tackling the problems and before the Covid pandemic they were making 
inroads.  He wanted people to live a long healthy life, free from disease as far as 
possible.  There were too many people under the age of 75 who were dying too 
early, often because of Cancer and Cardiovascular disease.  In the short-term one of 
the steps, they could take was to try and ensure that everyone eligible received a 
health check.  The later someone was diagnosed with cancer, the worse the 
prognosis and the chances of a full recovery.  A health check would help improve 
health outcomes. 
  
The Director of Public Health referred to screening rates which were in a very poor 
position in Wolverhampton.  How communities were engaged with was key to 
ensuring that screening rates improved in the City.  He referred to the success there 
had been in Wolverhampton in reducing drug related deaths, whereas in other places 
in the country they had increased.  Reducing infant mortality would also significantly 
improve the overall life expectancy figures.  There had been success in reducing the 
number of children starting smoking.  In tackling obesity, reducing barriers to places 
like leisure centres for families would help with the problem.  He also felt this would 
help improve emotional wellbeing and mental health.  Addressing population public 
health, connecting people and addressing the areas that caused people to die early 
was vitally important.   
  
The Vice-Chair asked the Director of Public Health if the problem with obesity was 
solvable in Wolverhampton.  He wanted to see improvements and asked when he 
would be able to see them, things had only got worse since 2015.   The Director of 
Public Health responded that there were short term interventions that could be 
implemented, such as initiatives to help increase the amount of physical activity 
taking place.  By increasing the amount of physical activity, he strove to improve the 
levels of obesity in the City.   He hoped to turn some of the indicators to green.  In 
2018 they had been the eighth lowest for health checks and this had gone up to the 

Page 10



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

top quartile.  He was therefore hopeful he could turn things around, but problems 
wouldn’t rectify themselves.   
  
A Panel Member referred to the difficult national situation and the problems with 
people being able to afford healthy food and stay warm.  People who were poor and 
unhappy were much more likely to face problems with their weight.  She wanted 
enforcement action to be taken against bad landlords.  She added that she wanted 
the roads to be safe for cyclists, as this would encourage people to use active travel 
which was heathier for them.  There was inequality in Wolverhampton and this could 
be seen looking at the ward profiles in the report.   
  
The Director of Public Health commented that in more deprived areas of the City it 
was harder to ascertain who was living in households.  Stabilising those households 
and helping them, meant a high probability of ensuring a healthier life.    
  
A Member of the Panel referred to generational poverty in some areas in 
Wolverhampton.  He added that they needed more investment to help them out of 
poverty this included more education, better healthcare and the children needed 
better access to the higher performing schools in the City.  A joined-up approach was 
vital.  Ensuring people that were eligible for a health check were invited to do so was 
important.  Dental health checks were also important and needed to be monitored.  
He asked if there were enough resources in the City to be a City of Sanctuary for 
people from war torn countries, due to the pressures the City were already facing in 
areas such as housing.  They deserved to receive full support but he was unsure if 
the City could provide it due to the pressures it was already under.   
  
The Director of Public Health spoke on health checks and how they could have an 
impact on improving population health.  900 people had recently had a heart check at 
the Mander Centre.  Dementia and gambling problems could also feature as part of 
health checks.  Dentistry was currently at NHS England level but he hoped the 
responsibility would soon be devolved to place level, which would give them more 
control.  Pharmacy he also desired to be devolved to local level from a regional 
level.  With asylum seekers in the City, they worked with health colleagues and the 
Home Office as best they could.  It did at times put pressure on the system but they 
tried to work collectively to help manage their needs working with partners in health 
and the voluntary sector.   
  
A Panel Member referred to vaping in School, which he described as an epidemic.  
He believed it to be a national issue and one which would continue to get worse 
unless action was taken.  The Director of Public Health responded that vaping was 
better than smoking tobacco for adults.  It was worrying when children were using 
vapes.  Addressing the question of what was driving them to vape was important and 
addressing the harm.  It was an emerging problem which didn’t really exist ten years 
ago.  National guidance would help with local plans.   
  
A Panel Member referred to the Sure Start Programme which was providing support 
for families but had ceased in 2015.  Youth Centres had also helped relieve pressure 
on the health sector.  She felt direct lobbying to national government was required to 
secure funds to help population health.  Food banks were now having to support 
families, particularly in deprived areas, as supermarket food was too expensive for 
them.  Demographics were changing which meant support infrastructure needed to 
be appropriate for the changing demands. 

Page 11



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

  
The Director of Public Health responded by emphasising the importance of stability 
of funding which was essential to programme and risk management.  Outcomes 
were more likely to be better when there was a long-term approach.  
  
The Chair commented that healthy eating could cost more money and so support 
was needed to those that were unable to afford healthy food.   
  
       

6 Health Checks and Screening 
Public Health Officers gave a detailed presentation on health checks and screening, 
a copy of the presentation slides are attached to the signed minutes. 
  
The Vice-Chair complemented Officers on the report and presentation.  He would 
personally be encouraging eligible people to take up screening.  He hoped the 
services would be as accessible as possible and thought would be given to people 
who relied on public transport.   
  
The Chair also encouraged accessible services and making sure there was 
appropriate capacity.  Thought should be given to the time of appointments to help 
people who struggled to take time off work.  Encouraging people to complete tests 
sent out in the post, such as tests for bowel cancer was critical.  Prevention was 
important to saving lives and helped the NHS manage their resources.   
  
The Principle Public Health Specialist commented that they didn’t want to fill 
standard GP Appointments with screening.  Some screening was completed by 
nurses.  The breast screening van had some success in increasing uptake, when it 
went to certain areas such as Bilston.  They looked at weekends and evenings as 
well to encourage uptake.  There were plans in place to look at accessibility and 
simplicity of wording for invitations.  Being proactive would help in reducing pressure 
on the NHS.   
  
The Principle Public Health Specialist commented there were planning meetings with 
the NHS to ensure screening initiatives didn’t impact on the day-to-day GP 
appointments.  They also held local events to help encourage uptake and were 
looking to build on this work.  They had recently carried out health checks at the 
Mander Centre as part of the outreach work.   
  
The Chair thanked Officers on behalf of the Panel for the report.  She hoped to see 
results moving forward.   
  
 

7 Date of Next Meeting and Proposed Agenda Items 
It was reported that the date of the next Health Scrutiny Panel would be Friday, 10 
November 2022 at 1:30pm. 
  
The proposed main items were: -  
  
Integrated Care System Strategy and Priorities 
One Wolverhampton Strategy and Priorities     
  
   

Page 12



wolverhampton.gov.uk

Performance, Budget and 
MTFS
Health Scrutiny Panel

12 December 2022

P
age 13 A

genda Item
 N

o: 4



Introduction

Budget Scrutiny for 

• Background 

• 2022-2023 Performance and Budget monitoring update – as at quarter 2

• 2023-2024 Draft Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 

• Future Challenges 

• Strategic Risk Register

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked 

P
age 14



Background 

• The Council has built up a strong track record over many years of 
managing its finances well despite reductions in funding 

• The Council’s strategic approach to strategic financial planning is to 
align resources to Our City, Our Plan which was approved by Full 
Council on 2 March 2022

• Our City: Our Plan a new Council plan building on the Relighting Our 
City and providing a strategic framework for delivering the ambition 
that ‘Wulfrunians will live longer, healthier lives.’

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 15



Background 

• This presentation provides an update on the in-year performance and 
budget position and the draft budget for 2023-2024.

• Scrutiny are asked to:

– consider and comment on the draft budget and how it is aligned to 
priorities of the Council 

– Provide feedback to Scrutiny Board for consolidation and onward 
response to Cabinet on the Draft Budget and Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy 2023-2024 to 2025-2026

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 16



P
age 17



2022-2023 Performance and Budget
Monitoring 
Quarter 2

P
age 18



Performance and Budget Monitoring – Quarter 2

• On a quarterly basis an integrated performance and budget monitoring 
report is presented to Cabinet.

• The quarter 2 position was presented to Cabinet on 16 November 
2022 and to Scrutiny Board on 6 December 2022.

• Overall, a forecast overspend was reported across the Council of £1.5 
million – this is in the main as a result of the 2022-2023 pay award. 

• The following slides provide an overview of the services that fall under 
the remit of this panel.

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 19



Overall Our City: Our Plan Performance – Quarter 2

In total there are currently 56 KPI’s in the Our City: Our Plan performance 
framework. 

Of these;

– 33 have shown improvement or have seen similar performance

– 17 are yet to be update in the YTD (8 of these in Healthy 
Communities) *

– 6 saw a decrease in performance

* Those not updated are where we are awaiting the publication of 
national data sets and the release schedule is not in our control. An 
example of this is Educational Attainment, which is a yearly updated 
that had not been published before the end of Q2 2022/23

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 20



Overall Our City: Our Plan Performance – Quarter 2

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 21



Healthy Communities Performance

• Through the pandemic, NHS postponed the release of key 
performance indicators.  Although some performance has started to be 
published again, the majority of indicators within the Our City: Our Plan 
portfolio for health remain outstanding

• With this in mind, Data and Analytics and Public Health are currently 
working on a new suite of performance indicators. These include high 
level surveillance indicators, that help Public Health understand key 
trends and priorities within the city, and operational performance 
indicators that track the work of our internal targeted Public Health 
interventions

• Work continues to build a robust intelligence base using recently 
released data through Census 2021, Health Index and the recently 
commissioned Healthy Lifestyles Survey to better understand 
residents' needs.

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 22



Healthy Communities Performance

• One of the indicators that has been published is the percentage of 40-
74 years attending offered health checks.

• The recent trend shows an improvement in the Wolverhampton uptake 
of residents attending health checks. Data shows that for the most 
recent quarter the uptake of the health check offer in the city was 
higher than the national average. 

• It is understood how important the link between the uptake of and 
improved outcomes across multiple health priorities. Ambitions for 
Wolverhampton are to continue to improve above the rate of England 
average and to return to pre pandemic levels of activity within the next 
year.  

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 23



NHS Health Checks activity trend

P
age 24



Forecast Budget Position – Summary

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

Service

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget
2022-2023

Gross   
Income 
Budget    

2022-2023*

Net Controllable 
Forecast 

(Expenditure)
2022-2023

Net Controllable 
Forecast 
(Income)     

2022-2023*

Q2 Variance Reason for Quarter 2 Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000  %  

Healthy Ageing 1,193 (1,193) 1,133 (1,133) - -  

Healthy Life Expectancy 5,865 (5,865) 5,829 (5,829) - -  

Public Health Business 
Management 5,229 (5,229) 5,292 (5,292) - -  

Starting and Developing 
Well 9,981 (9,981) 9,959 (9.959) - -  

System Leadership 214 (214) 214 (214) - -  

Total 22,482 (22,482) 22,427 (22,427) - -  

• Public Health Grant allocation for Wolverhampton for 2022-2023 is £21.7m

• Net Controllable Forecast income includes £20.7m of Public Health Grant, £1.1 million other grants and income and £660,000 use of reserves.

• A break even position is projected on these services.  These services are all fully funded by either Public Health grant, other grants income or reserve.

• Public Health grant allocation totalling £1.0 million is included in services which fall under Resident, Housing and Communities and Resources and Equality 
Scrutiny Panel.

P
age 25



2023-2024 Draft Budget and 
MTFS 2023-2024 to 2025-2026

Overview 

P
age 26



Overview

• The 2022-2023 budget and MTFS was approved by Full Council on 2 
March 2022 

• Reported a forecast budget deficit of £12.6 million in 2023-2024 rising 
to £25.8 million over the medium term to 2025-2026

• Work has been ongoing to reduce the deficit with an update to Cabinet 
on 19 October 2022 reporting an updated forecast budget deficit of £7 
million for 2023-2024 rising to £31.6 million by 2025-2026

• Work will continue to be undertaken to bring forward proposals to set a 
balanced budget for 2023-2024 and deliver a sustainable medium term 
financial strategy

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 27



2023-2024 Draft Budget and MTFS 2023-2024 to 2025-2026
Overview 

• *draft revised budget after reversal of one-off virements and forecast impact of 2022-2023 pay award

• ** forecast impact of increments, changes to NI, does not factor in any uplift for 2023-2024 pay award – this will be held corporately until agreed

• ***Commissioning and Transformation falls under both Fulfilled Adults Lives and Stronger Families, Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

Scrutiny Panel

 2022-2023 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget
£000 

 2022-2023 
Gross 

Income 
Budget
£000 

2022-2023
Net Revenue
Expenditure/

(Income)
Budget*
£000

Pay Award 
Inflation**
2023-2024

£000

Growth
2023-2024

£000

Savings
2023-2024

£000

2023-2024 
Draft Net 
Revenue

Expenditure/
(Income)
Budget
£000

Economy and Growth Scrutiny Panel                    21,129 (13,853)                      7,276                            85               90 (1,030)                 6,421 
Health Scrutiny Panel                    21,886 (21,886)                             -                               -                  -                  -                         -   
Residents, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Panel                    80,500 (46,181)                    34,319                          271             142 (250)               34,482 
Resources and Equality Scrutiny Panel                  197,087 (108,345)                    88,742                    14,112          3,336 (2,852)            103,338 
Fulfilled Adult Lives Scrutiny Panel                  119,537 (38,574)                    80,963                          172          4,705                -                 85,840 
Strong Families, Children, and Young People Scrutiny 
Panel                  242,021 (189,715)                    52,306                          442                -   (1,000)               51,748 

Commissioning and Transformation***                      3,815 (262)                      3,553                             -                  -                  -                   3,553 
Net Budget Requirement                 685,975 (418,816)                  267,159                    15,082         8,273 (5,132)            285,382 

Corporate Resources     (267,159) - (11,081) - (278,240)
Budget Challenge as at October 2022 7,142

P
age 28



Overview – Uncertainties 

• There continues to be significant uncertainty around 

– Future funding 

– Inflationary pressures 

– Future pay awards – currently assumes 4% in 2023-2024 and 2% 
for future years

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 29



Health
Scrutiny Panel   

2023-2024 draft budget and MTFS

P
age 30



Changes to budget –saving / growth 

• Under the remit of this panel the MTFS currently has the following no 
specific saving targets or growth built into the budget 

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 31



Draft Budget 

• Current position assumes no changes in public health grant – as the 2023-2024 allocations are not yet known

• *draft revised budget after reversal of one-off virements and forecast impact of 2022-2023 pay award

• ** forecast impact of increments, changes to NI, does not factor in any uplift for 2023-2024 pay award – this will be held 
corporately until agreed

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

Service

 2022-2023 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget*
£000 

 2022-2023 
Gross 

Income 
Budget
£000 

2022-2023
Net Revenue
Expenditure/

(Income)
Budget
£000

Pay Award Inflation**
2023-2024

£000

Growth
2023-2024

£000

Savings
2023-2024

£000

Net Revenue
Expenditure/

(Income)
Budget

2023-2024
£000

Healthy Ageing 1,165 (1,165) - - - - -
Healthy Life Expectancy 5,615 (5,615) - - - - -
Public Health Business Management 5,259 (5,259) - - - - -
Starting and Developing Well 9,633 (9,633) - - - - -
System Leadership 214 (214) - - - - -

                   21,886 (21,886)                          -                                     -               -                  -                         -   

P
age 32



Draft Budget 

• Budget setting process is still under way.  The Draft Budget is subject 
to changes that are implemented to close the current deficit for 2023-
2024.

• Some growth and saving targets are currently being held in Corporate 
Accounts and will be transferred to services.

• The Draft Budget currently does not yet reflect any virements between 
services in 2023-2024.

• Work is ongoing to review and challenge budget requirements.

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 33



Risks / Key areas to note

Covid-19

• Co-ordinated joint working continues to promote vaccination uptake to 
eligible groups.

• The Health Protection Forum has strategic oversight for our jointly 
owned ‘Local Outbreak Control Plan’ and leads on the coordination of 
the approach to preventing, containing and managing outbreaks.

Quality and Access of Care 

• The impact of the pandemic has led to pressure on the health and 
social care system. Joint working with NHS colleagues through the 
new Integrated Care System at both a Black Country and place level is 
ongoing to address this, including through the promotion of local 
initiatives such as Health Checks. 

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 34



Earmarked Reserves

Full list of forecast balances of all reserves reported to Reserves Working Group on 8 November 2022.

*updated to reflect use of reserves as approved Cabinet on 16 November 2022

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

Earmarked 
Reserve

Description of 
Reserve

Balance 
at 1 April 

2022

£000

Forecast 
Balance at 
31 March 

2023
£000

Areas of anticipated 
expenditure
2022-2023

What would be the 
effect on services if 
the reserve is not 

utilised in this way

Approved 
Commitments

for future years
(2023-2024 
onwards)

£000

Public Health
Public Health This reserve has 

been established 
from ring fenced 
Public Health grant 
and is to fund one-off 
public health 
initiatives.

(7,936) (6,139)*

Plans for use in 2022-
2023 were approved 
in the Performance 
and Budget 
Monitoring Reports to 
Cabinet on 16 
November 2022

The Draft Budget and 
MTFS 2023-2024 to 
2025-2026 reported to 
Cabinet on 19 October 
2022, incorporated the 
use of £2 million of this 
reserve over the period 
of 2023-2024 to 2024-
2025

2,218*

P
age 35



Strategic Risk Register

Risks last reported to the Audit and Risk Committee on 28 
November 2022. 

• The following strategic risk relevant to this panel: 

– Refugee and Asylum accommodation and support

• Other strategic risks which may have an impact on this panel 

– Medium Term Financial Strategy

– Financial wellbeing and resilience

– Charging Reform and Fair cost of care

wolverhampton.gov.ukNot Protectively Marked

P
age 36



wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 39

Agenda Item No: 5



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 1/17

Integrated care systems explained: making
sense of systems, places and
neighbourhoods
19 August 2022
12 comments

Authors

Anna Charles

This explainer was originally published on 9 April 2020. It was updated on
19 August 2022. 

Contents

1. What are integrated care systems?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#what-are-ICSs)

2. Why are ICSs needed?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#why-are-they-needed)

3. Where did ICSs come from?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#where-from)

4. What do ICSs look like?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#look-like)

5. Systems, places, neighbourhoods
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#systems)

6. What does this mean for commissioning?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#commissioning)

7. What does this mean for NHS providers?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#providers)

Page 51

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/about-us/whos-who/anna-charles


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 2/17

8. What does this mean for local government?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#local-government)

9. What does this mean for VCSE organisations?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#vcse)

10. What does this mean for oversight and regulation?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#oversight)

11. How will we know if ICSs are working?
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-
explained#are-icss-working)

12. Where next? (https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-
systems-explained#where-next)

What are integrated care systems?

Integrated care systems (ICSs) are partnerships that bring together NHS
organisations, local authorities and others to take collective responsibility for
planning services, improving health and reducing inequalities across geographical
areas.

There are 42 ICSs across England, covering populations of around 500,000 to 3
million people.

Page 52



02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 3/17

Source: © Crown copyright and database right 2020 • Created with Datawrapper

Map 1: The 42 integrated care systems in England
This map shows the location and boundaries of the 42 integrated care systems (ICSs) in Engla

ICSs have existed in one form or another since 2016, but for most of this time
have operated as informal partnerships using soft power and influence to achieve
their objectives. Following the passage of the 2022 Health and Care Act, ICSs
were formalised as legal entities with statutory powers and responsibilities.
Statutory ICSs comprise two key components:

Page 53

https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/datasets/571bd4512165461fad70a0ccc36450e4_3/explore?location=52.910974%2C-2.000000%2C7.77
https://www.datawrapper.de/_/5HGUQ


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 4/17

integrated care boards (ICBs): statutory bodies that are responsible for
planning and funding most NHS services in the area
integrated care partnerships (ICPs): statutory committees that
bring together a broad set of system partners (including local government,
the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector (VCSE), NHS
organisations and others) to develop a health and care strategy for the area.

Working through their ICB and ICP, ICSs have four key aims
(https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-
effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/) :

improving outcomes in population health and health care
tackling inequalities in outcomes, experience and access
enhancing productivity and value for money
helping the NHS to support broader social and economic development.

ICSs are the centrepiece of the reforms introduced through the 2022 Health and
Care Act and are part of a fundamental shift in the way the English health and
care system is organised. Following several decades during which the emphasis
was on organisational autonomy, competition and the separation of
commissioners and providers, ICSs depend instead on collaboration and a focus
on places and local populations as the driving forces for improvement.

Why are ICSs needed?

When the NHS was set up it was primarily focused on treating single conditions
or illnesses, but since then the health and care needs of the population have
changed. People are living longer with multiple, complex, long-term conditions
and increasingly require long‑term support from many different services and
professionals. As a consequence, people too often receive fragmented care from
services that are not effectively co-ordinated around their needs. This can
negatively impact (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-care) their
experiences, lead to poorer outcomes and create duplication and inefficiency. To
deliver joined-up support that better meets the needs of the population, different
parts of the NHS (including hospitals, primary care and community and mental
health services) and health and social care need to work in a much more joined-
up way. ICSs are the latest in a long line of initiatives
(https://www.nao.org.uk/report/health-and-social-care-integration/) aiming to integrate
care. 

As argued in The King’s Fund’s vision for population health (/publications/vision-
population-health) , an integrated health and care system is just one of the four
pillars of a population health system (https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/vision-

Page 54

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-care
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/health-and-social-care-integration/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/vision-population-health
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/vision-population-health#what-is-population-health


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 5/17

population-health#what-is-population-health) . Evidence
(https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on)
consistently shows that it is the wider conditions of people’s lives – their homes,
financial resources, opportunities for education and employment, access to public
services and the environments in which they live – that have the greatest impact
on health and wellbeing. Health inequalities (/publications/what-are-health-
inequalities) are wide and growing but they are not inevitable, as evidence shows
(/blog/2017/08/reducing-inequalities-health-towards-brave-old-world) that a concerted
approach, combining the NHS and wider policies to address the social and
economic causes of poor health, can make a difference. ICSs therefore also have
a critical role to play in driving forward efforts to improve population health and
tackle inequalities in their local areas. These goals are clearly set out in the four
functions of ICSs (see above), and the new Triple Aim for NHS bodies (which was
amended to specifically include consideration of inequalities). 

The triple aim is a legal duty on NHS bodies which requires them to consider the
effects of their decisions on: 

the health and wellbeing of the people of England (including inequalities in
that health and wellbeing)
the quality of services provided or arranged by both themselves and other
relevant bodies (including inequalities in benefits from those services)
the sustainable and efficient use of resources by both themselves and other
relevant bodies.

To meet these objectives, ICSs need to reach beyond the NHS to bring together
local authorities, VCSE organisations and other local partners. 

These are complex reforms, and it is vital that they are underpinned by a clear
narrative describing how they will benefit patients, service users and
communities. Working alongside National Voices, Age UK and the Richmond
Group of charities, The King’s Fund has developed a joint vision
(https://www.nationalvoices.org.uk/sites/default/files/public/publications/reform_for_people_-
_a_joint_vision_for_integrating_care_0.pdf) that sets out what integrated care and
partnership working could mean for people and communities. It will be important
for ICSs to not lose sight of these core objectives, and to find ways to hear from
local communities (/publications/understanding-integration-listen-people-communities)
and involve them (/projects/lessons-wigan-deal) directly in their work.

 

Page 55

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/vision-population-health#what-is-population-health
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-are-health-inequalities
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2017/08/reducing-inequalities-health-towards-brave-old-world
https://www.nationalvoices.org.uk/sites/default/files/public/publications/reform_for_people_-_a_joint_vision_for_integrating_care_0.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/understanding-integration-listen-people-communities
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/lessons-wigan-deal


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 6/17

Where did ICSs come from?

ICSs have been developing for several years. They evolved from sustainability
and transformation plans/partnerships (STPs) (/topics/integrated-care/sustainability-
transformation-plans-explained) – geographical groupings of health and care
organisations formed in 2016 to develop ‘place-based plans’ for the future of
health and care services in their areas. Since then, local systems have been
strengthening these partnerships (/publications/year-integrated-care-systems) and
working through them to plan and improve health and care. 

Over recent years, the work of ICSs (and before them STPs) has focused on a
number of areas, including:  

reaching a shared view between system partners of local needs and the
resources available for health and care 
agreeing a strategic direction for local services based on those needs and
resources 
driving service changes that are needed to deliver agreed priorities 
taking a strategic approach to key system enablers, for example by
developing strategies around digital technologies, workforce and estates
establishing infrastructure and ways of working to support collaborative
working, for example by putting in place new governance arrangements to
enable joint decision-making and agreeing system-wide leadership
arrangements
strengthening collaborative relationships and trust between partner
organisations and their leaders. 

Until July 2022, there was no statutory basis for these arrangements. STPs and
ICSs were voluntary partnerships that rested on the willingness and commitment
of organisations and leaders to work collaboratively. This meant that progress
sometimes had to be made through workarounds to the legislative framework,
creating complex and protracted decision-making processes and leading to
concerns around transparency and accountability. This has all changed with the
2022 Health and Care Act and the establishment of ICSs as legal entities.
However, it is also important to recognise the limitations of what this legislation
can realistically achieve. It is not possible to legislate for collaboration and co-
ordination of local services; this requires changes to behaviours, attitudes and
relationships among staff and leaders right across the system.

In contrast to previous attempts at NHS reform, national NHS bodies have
adopted a relatively permissive approach allowing the design and implementation
of ICSs to be locally led within a broad national framework. As a result, there are
significant differences (https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/integrated-

Page 56

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/topics/integrated-care/sustainability-transformation-plans-explained
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/year-integrated-care-systems
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/integrated-care-systems-what-do-they-look-like


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 7/17

care-systems-what-do-they-look-like) in the size of systems and the arrangements
they have put in place, as well as wide variation in the maturity of partnership
working. The statutory requirements for ICSs have created greater consistency in
their governance arrangements and responsibilities, but still leave significant
flexibility for systems to determine their own arrangements. This means that much
remains to be seen in terms of how the reforms are implemented locally.

Variation in how ICSs have developed means they can be complex and difficult to
understand. But systems of care and the health needs of local populations are
themselves complex in ways that don’t lend themselves to simplicity and
standardisation. The flexibility ICSs have been given has the advantage of
enabling them to develop arrangements to suit their local contexts, respond to
population needs and build on their existing strengths, and could help to
engender a greater sense of local ownership of and commitment to the changes
than in previous NHS restructures.

What do ICSs look like?

How ICSs are structured

As set out above, statutory ICSs include two key parts: an ICB and an ICP. This
section sets out further detail on each of these structures and the interface
between them.  

Integrated care boards (ICBs)

The role of the ICB is to allocate the NHS budget and commission services for the
population, taking over the functions previously held by clinical commissioning
groups (CCGs) and some of the direct commissioning functions of NHS England.
The ICB is directly accountable (/publications/understanding-accountabilities-
structures-health-care) to NHS England for NHS spend and performance within the
system. ICBs may choose to exercise their functions through delegating them to
place-based committees (see below) but the ICB remains formally accountable. 

Each ICB must prepare a five-year system plan setting out how they will meet the
health needs of their population. In developing this plan and carrying out their
work, the ICB must have regard to their partner ICP’s integrated care strategy
and be informed by the joint health and wellbeing strategies published by the
health and wellbeing boards in their area
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-and-joint-
health-and-wellbeing-strategies-explained) . In addition, the ICB and its partner NHS
trusts and foundation trusts must develop a joint plan for capital spending

Page 57

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/integrated-care-systems-what-do-they-look-like
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/understanding-accountabilities-structures-health-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-and-joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategies-explained


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 8/17

(spending on buildings, infrastructure and equipment) for providers within the
geography.

The ICB operates as a unitary board, with membership including (at a minimum);
a chair, chief executive officer, and at least three other members drawn from NHS
trusts and foundation trusts, general practice and local authorities in the area. In
addition, at least one member must have knowledge and expertise in mental
health services. ICBs have discretion to decide on additional members locally.
Each ICB must also ensure that patients and communities are involved in the
planning and commissioning of services. 

ICBs must not appoint any individuals to their board whose membership could
reasonably be regarded as undermining the independence of the health service.
This requirement is intended to ensure that private sector organisations do not
exert undue influence and that their participation is to the benefit of the system,
reflecting sensitivities around private sector involvement in the NHS.  

Integrated care partnerships (ICPs)

The ICP is a statutory joint committee of the ICB and local authorities in the area.
It brings together a broad set of system partners to support partnership working
and develop an ‘integrated care strategy’, a plan to address the wider health care,
public health and social care needs of the population. This strategy must build on
local joint strategic needs assessments and health and wellbeing strategies and
must be developed with the involvement of local communities and Healthwatch.
The ICB is required to have regard to this plan when making decisions. 

There is significant flexibility for ICPs to determine their own arrangements,
including their membership and ways of working. Membership must include one
member appointed by the ICB, one member appointed by each of the relevant
local authorities, and others to be determined locally. This may include social care
providers, public health, Healthwatch, VCSE organisations and others such as
local housing or education providers. 

Take a look at our diagram (/node/94444) illustrating the structure of
integrated care systems and other key local planning and partnership
bodies.

This dual structure was designed to support ICSs to act both as bodies
responsible for NHS money and performance at the same time as acting as a
wider system partnership. It remains to be seen how this will work in practice,Page 58

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/node/94444


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 9/17

including how the two bodies will relate to one another and what dynamic will
emerge between them. For example, it may be difficult for ICPs to have real clout
in the system and drive the agenda of their ICS when much of the resource and
formal accountabilities sit with the ICB. 

Some systems are further ahead
(https://www.wypartnership.co.uk/application/files/9916/5729/3814/West_Yorkshire_functions_an
in embedding these arrangements than others, and in many cases the formation
of the ICP lagged behind (https://www.hsj.co.uk/policy-and-regulation/boards-
responsible-for-integration-strategy-unlikely-to-be-fully-operational-before-autumn-
2022/7030956.article) the initial establishment of the ICB (which was held to tighter
deadlines due to the legislative timetable). 

Systems, places, neighbourhoods

A key premise of ICS policy, and a core feature of many of the systems that have
been working as ICSs the longest, is that much of the activity to integrate care,
improve population health and tackle inequalities will be driven by commissioners
and providers collaborating over smaller geographies within ICSs (often referred
to as ‘places’) and through teams delivering services working together on even
smaller footprints (usually referred to as ‘neighbourhoods’). This is important as
ICSs tend to cover large geographical areas (typically a population of more than 1
million people) so aren’t well suited to designing or delivering changes in services
to meet the distinctive needs and characteristics of local populations.

This three-tiered model of neighbourhoods, places and systems is an over-
simplification of the diverse set of arrangements seen in reality, but the
terminology is now in widespread use within the health and care system. National
policy (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-
joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations) and guidance
(https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-
effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/) has made it clear that ICSs will be
expected to work through these smaller geographies within their footprints. 

An overview of neighbourhoods, places and systems

Neighbourhoods (covering populations of around 30,000 to 50,000
people*): where groups of GP practices work with NHS community services,
social care and other providers to deliver more co-ordinated and proactive
care, including through the formation of primary care networks (/node/93397)
(PCNs) and multi-agency neighbourhood teams.

Page 59

https://www.wypartnership.co.uk/application/files/9916/5729/3814/West_Yorkshire_functions_and_decisions_map_28.06.22.jpg
https://www.hsj.co.uk/policy-and-regulation/boards-responsible-for-integration-strategy-unlikely-to-be-fully-operational-before-autumn-2022/7030956.article
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/node/93397


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 10/17

Places (covering populations of around 250,000 to 500,000 people*): where
partnerships of health and care organisations in a town or district – including
local government, NHS providers, VCSE organisations, social care providers
and others – come together to join up the planning and delivery of services,
redesign care pathways, engage with local communities and address health
inequalities and the social and economic determinants of health. In many
(but not all) cases, place footprints are based on local authority boundaries.

Systems (covering populations of around 500,000 to 3 million people*):
where health and care partners come together at scale to set overall system
strategy, manage resources and performance, plan specialist services, and
drive strategic improvements in areas such as workforce planning, digital
infrastructure and estates.

* Population sizes are variable – numbers vary from area to area and may
be larger or smaller than those presented here. Systems are adapting this
model to suit their local contexts, for example some larger systems have an
additional intermediate tier between place and system.

Map 2 An example of the places and neighbourhoods within an ICS

A map showing South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw ICS, with five places, and 36
nieghbourhoods.

There is no simple answer for which activities should sit at which level due to
wide variation in the scale and characteristics of local areas. As a consequence,
the exact division of roles and responsibilities between ICSs and their constituent
places and neighbourhoods has not been laid out in legislation or guidance.
Instead, there is freedom for this to be determined locally with an expectation that
decisions should be based on the principle of subsidiarity , meaning ICSs will take
responsibility only for things where there is a need to work at scale. Local
systems are taking different approaches to applying this principle, for example
West Yorkshire ICS has agreed three ‘subsidiarity tests
(https://www.wypartnership.co.uk/application/files/6716/5703/3676/NHS_West_Yorkshire_ICB_C
’ to determine whether something should be led by the wider system or by the
local places within it. 

ICSs will be expected to delegate significant responsibilities and budgets to
place-based partnerships, as stressed by the government’s integration White
Paper (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-
joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations) and the guidance document
Thriving places (https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0660-ics-
implementation-guidance-on-thriving-places.pdf) . The 2022 Health and Care Act

Page 60

https://www.wypartnership.co.uk/application/files/6716/5703/3676/NHS_West_Yorkshire_ICB_Constitution_010722_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0660-ics-implementation-guidance-on-thriving-places.pdf


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 11/17

made provision for the formation of place-based committees (which can be
established as subcommittees of the ICB) but left flexibility for local areas to
determine how these should be formed and how they will operate. Outside of the
legislation, the recent integration White Paper set out a greater degree of
formality and national oversight of these arrangements, and outlined plans to
introduce minimum expectations around place-level governance, leadership
arrangements and a new shared outcomes framework from April 2023. 

For more detail on the formation of place-based partnerships, and the relationship
between place and system, see our report, Developing place-based partnerships
(/publications/place-based-partnerships-integrated-care-systems) . 

What does this mean for commissioning?

The 2022 Health and Care Act entailed significant structural change for NHS
commissioning. CCGs were abolished, with their functions and many of their staff
transferred into ICBs. ICBs have also taken on some commissioning
responsibilities from NHS England (https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2022/05/PAR1440-letter-roadmap-for-all-direct-commissioning-functions-
may-2022.pdf) , including the commissioning of primary care and some specialised
services (with a plan (https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-england-
commissioning-functions-for-delegation-to-integrated-care-systems/) for further
delegation over time), giving local systems a greater say in how budgets for these
services are spent in their area.

These shifts build on changes to commissioning (/publications/what-commissioning-
and-how-it-changing) that have been underway for several years. Before their
abolition, many CCGs had been working more closely together at a system level
through joint management structures or formal mergers and the number of CCGs
had fallen significantly. At the same time, many CCGs were working more closely
with local councils at ‘place’ level to align and integrate commissioning for NHS
and local authority services, and some larger CCGs were organising some of
their functions across a system-wide footprint and other functions around place
footprints.
 
The legislation has also changed procurement and competition requirements,
removing the requirement for mandatory competitive retendering (supported by a
new provider selection regime, due to be implemented by December 2022). 

This is all part of a shift towards strategic commissioning (/publications/thinking-
differently-commissioning) and a more collaborative approach to planning and
improving services. This means that, instead of focusing on procurement and

Page 61

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/place-based-partnerships-integrated-care-systems
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/PAR1440-letter-roadmap-for-all-direct-commissioning-functions-may-2022.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-england-commissioning-functions-for-delegation-to-integrated-care-systems/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-commissioning-and-how-it-changing
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/thinking-differently-commissioning


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 12/17

contract management, the role of commissioners is to work closely with key
partners across the system (including with providers) to understand population
needs, determine key priorities and design, plan and resource services to meet
those needs. 

What does this mean for NHS providers?

NHS providers are increasingly being expected to look beyond their
organisational priorities to focus on system-wide objectives and improving
outcomes and reducing inequalities for the communities they serve. While the
legal functions and duties of NHS trusts and foundation trusts remain largely
unchanged under the recent reforms, they are also expected to participate in
multiple collaborative forums, including membership of the ICB and forming
collaboratives with other providers (/publications/provider-collaboratives) . NHS trusts
and foundation trusts are also now bound by a new duty to collaborate with local
partners and a shared duty to promote the triple aim (see above). 

NHS providers are already playing a critical role in the changes underway in
many systems, contributing to and/or leading work at ICS level to plan and
transform services and improve system performance, and collaborating with other
local providers (including those from outside the NHS) at place and
neighbourhood levels to redesign care pathways and deliver more integrated
services for local people. 

The policy intention is that commissioners and providers should increasingly be
working hand in hand to plan care for their populations. While distinct
commissioning and provision responsibilities still formally sit in separate
organisations, in practice the division is becoming increasingly blurred (for
example, as providers are represented on the ICB). Fundamentally, a key
principle in the reforms is that providers are part of the ICS – just as much as the
ICB and ICP are – and as such they are being asked to take on wider
responsibilities for the performance of the whole system.
 

What does this mean for local government?

Since ICSs first began developing in 2016, the involvement of local government
has varied widely (/publications/articles/health-wellbeing-boards-integrated-care-
systems) . The King’s Fund has argued (/publications/year-integrated-care-systems)
that, for ICSs to succeed, they will need to function as equal partnerships with
local government not just involved but jointly driving the agenda alongside the
NHS and other key partners. Importantly, partnerships between local government

Page 62

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/provider-collaboratives
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/articles/health-wellbeing-boards-integrated-care-systems
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/year-integrated-care-systems


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 13/17

and NHS organisations are also developing at the level of ‘place’, which is usually
coterminous with local authority boundaries. 

The involvement of local government in ICSs and place-based partnerships can
bring three key benefits. The first is the opportunity to join up health and social
care at all levels in the system, creating better outcomes and a less fragmented
experience for patients and users. The second is the potential to improve
population health and wellbeing and tackle inequalities through the leadership of
public health teams as well as NHS and local government acting together to
address wider determinants of health such as housing, local planning and
education. Finally, the involvement of local government can enhance
transparency and accountability through supporting engagement with local
communities and providing local democratic oversight. 

Within the new statutory ICS structures, the involvement of local government has
been formalised through the ICP and through the direct representation of local
authorities on the ICB. In addition, ICSs must draw on the joint health and
wellbeing strategies of their local health and wellbeing boards in producing their
integrated care strategies and five-year system plans. 

However, now that ICBs have significant NHS budgets and responsibilities, there
is a risk of their focus on NHS resources and performance crowding out wider
system priorities and undermining the sense of equal partnership many systems
have worked hard to nurture. This is already causing tensions between the NHS
and local government (https://www.hsj.co.uk/integrated-care/icss-are-an-nhs-
steamroller-says-disrespected-council-leader/7032734.article) in some areas.  

What does this mean for VCSE organisations?

VCSE organisations play a critical role within local health and care systems both
as service providers and as vehicles for community engagement and voice. They
are therefore important strategic partners for ICSs in terms of delivering
improvements in health and wellbeing and reducing inequalities – which often
involves working more closely with communities. 

The involvement of VCSE organisations within formal ICS structures is open to
local determination, but national guidance (https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2021/06/B0905-vcse-and-ics-partnerships.pdf) has set clear
expectations that they should be involved both within the governance structures
(for example, through membership of the ICP) and in delivering key
workstreams. 

Page 63

https://www.hsj.co.uk/integrated-care/icss-are-an-nhs-steamroller-says-disrespected-council-leader/7032734.article
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0905-vcse-and-ics-partnerships.pdf


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 14/17

Resource constraints and the diversity of the sector can both act as barriers to
the participation of VCSE organisations, and their involvement in shaping
priorities, plans and decisions at system level remains limited in many cases. In
some systems, VCSE alliances or infrastructure organisations are playing an
important role in bridging this gap, while other ICSs have identified funding for a
dedicated post or function. Importantly, VCSE organisations also have an
important role at place and neighbourhood levels.  
 

What does this mean for oversight and regulation?

Despite the focus on collaboration and system-working in recent years, the
primary focus of NHS regulators has continued to be on managing the
performance of individual organisations. The interventions and behaviours of the
regulators have sometimes made it more difficult for organisations to collaborate.
Over time, national and regional NHS bodies will be expected to shift their focus
to regulating and overseeing systems of care (alongside their existing
responsibilities in relation to individual organisations), increasingly working
alongside local systems to support them to change and improve services. 

In line with this ambition, NHS England is developing a new operating model. This
will build on changes that have already been made to the work of its national and
regional teams (including bringing together the regulation of commissioners and
providers through the merger of NHS England and NHS Improvement). A new
integration index (/blog/2019/07/meaningful-measures-integration) is also under
development to better measure the success of efforts to integrate care from the
perspective of patients, carers and the public. 

At the same time, the CQC is adapting its approach to monitoring and inspection
to better reflect system working. The 2022 Health and Care Act introduced a duty
on the CQC to review health care and adult social care in each ICB, including
looking at how partners in the ICS are working together. 
 

How will we know if ICSs are working?

ICSs will be accountable nationally to NHS England, via their ICB, for NHS
spending and performance. They will be expected to achieve financial balance
and to meet national requirements and performance targets. 

In addition to these national accountabilities, ICSs also have the potential to
nurture different forms of oversight to drive local improvements in care. This is

Page 64

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2019/07/meaningful-measures-integration


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 15/17

because ICSs are partnerships in which local organisations exercise collective
leadership and work towards developing a sense of mutual accountability for
resource use and outcomes. This may take the form of peer challenge and
support from partners within an ICS, drawing on local data on performance and
outcomes. 

Importantly, to really understand whether their work is making a difference, ICSs
will need to use insights from local people including patients, service users and
families. As we have argued in previous work (/publications/understanding-
integration-listen-people-communities) , the best way to understand whether
integration is delivering results is through the eyes of people using services.

Where next?

The coming months will be a critical period for the development of ICSs as they
begin operating as statutory bodies. Ultimately, whether or not these reforms
succeed will come down to how they are implemented locally, and whether the
right national conditions can be created to support their work. 

It won’t be easy to find the bandwidth to do the hard work of changing ways of
working (/blog/2022/03/integrated-care-systems-need-to-be-different) at a time when
health and care services are under such pressure, and there is a risk
(/blog/2022/07/are-ics-getting-right-start) that established ways of working will be
recreated within the new structures. To avoid this, ICSs will need to keep sight of
their core objectives and the ethos of system working behind their development.

Evidence from previous attempts to integrate care indicates that these changes
will take time to deliver results. This means that local and national leaders need to
make a long-term commitment to the development of ICSs and avoid the past
mistake of moving swiftly to the next reorganisation if desired outcomes are not
rapidly achieved.  

Related content

How does the NHS in England work and how is it changing?

Watch our animation to discover the key organisations that make up the NHS and
how they can collaborate with partners in the health and care system to deliver
joined-up care.
Duration - 5 mins
(/audio-video/how-does-nhs-in-england-work)

Page 65

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/understanding-integration-listen-people-communities
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2022/03/integrated-care-systems-need-to-be-different
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2022/07/are-ics-getting-right-start
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/audio-video/how-does-nhs-in-england-work
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/audio-video/integrated-care-systems-health-and-care-act


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 16/17

Integrated care systems: how will they work under the Health
and Care Act?

We've developed a diagram to show how integrated care systems will work under
the Health and Care Act.
(/audio-video/integrated-care-systems-health-and-care-act)

Building collaborative leadership across health and care
organisations

Develop the skills and behaviours required to work with local leaders to redesign
health and care systems.
Start date: 6-7 December 2022
Duration: Four modules
(/courses/building-collaborative-leadership)

Integrated care in practice: realising the potential of integrated
care systems

7 - 10 November 2022 - Virtual conference
(/events/integrated-care-practice)

Developing place-based partnerships: The foundation of
effective integrated care systems

This report considers the potential of place-based partnerships to improve
population health and support truly integrated care, and highlights principles to
guide their development and the support they might need from national and
regional leaders.
By Anna Charles et al - 20 April 2021
(/publications/place-based-partnerships-integrated-care-systems)

Integrated care: our position

()

Joined-up care: Sam's story

Why does integrated care matter? And what does it mean for patients? This short
animation brings integrated care to life.
Duration - 3 mins
(/audio-video/joined-care-sams-story)

Page 66

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/audio-video/integrated-care-systems-health-and-care-act
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/courses/building-collaborative-leadership
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/events/integrated-care-practice
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/place-based-partnerships-integrated-care-systems
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/positions/integrated-care
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/audio-video/joined-care-sams-story
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2022/05/health-and-care-act-2022-challenges-and-opportunities


02/12/2022, 13:19 Integrated care systems explained | The King's Fund

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained 17/17

The Health and Care Act 2022: the challenges and
opportunities that lie ahead

Now the Health and Care Act has been passed, Richard Murray reflects on the
negotiations that went down to the wire, what didn’t make it and what’s needed to
ensure the reforms are successful.
By Richard Murray - 3 May 2022 4-minute read
(/blog/2022/05/health-and-care-act-2022-challenges-and-opportunities)

Page 67

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2022/05/health-and-care-act-2022-challenges-and-opportunities


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	4 Performance, Budget Monitoring and MTFS
	5 Integrated Care System Strategy and Priorities - Question and Answer Session
	King's Fund Article 1
	King's Fund Article 2
	King's Fund Article 3
	King's Fund Article 4


